IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA No. 18-1550 Polk County Equity No. CVCV054654

T.H.E. INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v.

ESTATE OF STEPHEN PAUL BOOHER; GLADYS F. BOOHER, Administrator, and GLADYS F. BOOHER, INDIVIDUALLY,

Defendants Booher/Appellants,

STUART R. GLEN,

Defendant (Not appearing or participating at trial court level).

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY THE HON. JEANIE VAUDT, JUDGE

DEFENDANTS'-APPELLANTS' BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL AGRUMENT

FRED L. DORR

WASKER, DORR, WIMMER & MARCOUILLER, P.C. 4201 Westown Parkway, Suite 250

West Des Moines, Iowa 50266-6720

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. T.H.E. is bound to defend against and, indemnify Glen for, the significant Booher claims (i.e. relational damages).

Cases:

City of Cedar Rapids v. Northwestern Nat. Ins. Co. of Milwaukee, Wis., 304 N.W.2d 228, 231 (Iowa 1981)

Iowa Fuels & Minerals, Inc. v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents, 471 N.W.2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991)

Shook v. Crab, 281 N.W.2d 616, 620 (Iowa 1979)

Walker v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 340 N.W.2d 599, 601 (Iowa 1983)

Witcraft v. Sundstrand Health & Disability Group Benefits Plan, 420 N.W.2d 785, 790 (Iowa 1988)

Iowa Statute:

§85.20(2) of the 2015 Iowa Code

Iowa/Federal Rules:

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(n)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

II. The facts of this case defeat T.H.E.'s below Summary Judgment Motion and support entry of Summary Judgment in Defendant Boohers' favor.

Cases:

Swanson v. McGraw, 447 N.W.2d 541, 543 (Iowa 1989)

Iowa Statute:

§85.20(2) of the Iowa Code

Iowa/Federal Rules:

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(j)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

III. The lower court's decision, concluding T.H.E.'s policies only cover "bodily injury" to Booher family members caused by an "accident" and are thus beyond the reach of a gross negligence claim under §85.20(2) of the Iowa Code is flawed.

Cases:

Central Bearings Co. v. Wolverine Ins. Co., 179 N.W.2d 443, 445

City of Cedar Rapids v. Northwestern Nat. Ins. Co. of Milwaukee, Wis., 304 N.W.2d 228, 231 (Iowa 1981)

Harvey Constr. Co. v. Parmele, 253 Iowa 731, 741 – 42, 113 N.W.2d 760, 766 (1962)

Iowa Fuels & Minerals, Inc. v. Iowa State Bd. of Regents, 471 N.W.2d 859, 863 (Iowa 1991)

Midwest Management Corp. v. Stephens, 291 N.W.2d 896, 913 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Carpenter, 334 N.W.2d 137, 140 (Iowa 1983)

Swanson v. McGraw, 447 N.W.2d 541, 543 (Iowa 1989)

Witcraft v. Sundstrand Health & Disability Group Benefits Plan, 420 N.W.2d 785, 790 (Iowa 1988)

Iowa Statutes:

§85.20(2) of the 2015 Iowa Code

§85.20(2) of the Iowa Code

Iowa/Federal Rules:

Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(j)

Iowa R. App. P. 6.907

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a), this case involves application of existing legal principles. Transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals would be appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Stephen P. Booher was fatally injured on June 7, 2016, while an employee of Adventureland Amusement Park located in Altoona, Polk County, Iowa, while serving as a loading assistant on the Raging River ride through the alleged multiple grossly negligent acts of the ride operator in prematurely and wrongfully starting the ride. (Appendix, Volume I, pages 0382, 0389; hereafter "App., Vol. I, pps. 0382-0389"). Stephen Booher was jerked off his feet and fell onto the moving belt which created the ride action. (App., Vol. I, p. 0386). He was drawn into the vortex between one of the rafts and a concrete sidewall. (<u>Id</u>.). His head was repeatedly rammed into the sidewall until the ride operator finally stopped the ride. (<u>Id</u>.).

Stephen was then taken to Mercy Hospital, Des Moines, Iowa, where he died four (4) days later on June 11, 2016. (App., Vol. I, p. 0386).

His estate, along with his widow, Gladys Booher, individually, filed a petition in the Iowa District Court in and for Polk County, Iowa, against Stuart R. Glen ("Glen") the ride operator on March 10, 2017. (App. Vol. I, p. 0382).

That case (Polk County Case No. CACL137365) was later removed to federal district court. It will be referenced herein as the "**Underlying Action**." Action in that court case has been temporarily stayed pursuant to federal court order.

T.H.E. Insurance Company ("T.H.E.") is the liability carrier for Adventureland. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0395-0400).

Its commercial lines of policy coverages include a Commercial General Liability Policy ("CGL") along with a Multi-Plex Liability Endorsement, and a Commercial Excess Policy ("Excess Policy"). (App., Vol. II, p. 0330; and, App. Vol. I, p. 0703). The Plaintiff, T.H.E. and the Booher Defendants both sought pretrial summary judgments in their favor with respect to the twin issues of:

- T.H.E.'s duty to defend Defendant, Stuart Glen, in the Underlying Action; and,
- T.H.E.'s duty to indemnify Glen should Defendants Booher prevail in the federal companion case. (App. Vol. II, p. 0450; and, App. Vol. II, p. 0928).

After hearing the Cross Summary Judgment Motions on March 9, 2018, Polk County Trial Judge, Jeanie Vaudt denied both motions. (App., Vol. II, p. 0967). In her order entered on May 8, 2018, she generally concluded there were genuine issues of material fact which precluded the court from granting summary judgment to either party. (App., Vol. II, p. 0968).

On May 16, 2018, Plaintiff T.H.E. filed its Motion for Reconsideration contending that the issue of its duty to defend was ripe for consideration at the pretrial stage. (App., Vol. II, p. 0971).

T.H.E. requested the court reconsider its initial ruling on summary judgment and consider the matter anew. (<u>Id</u>.).

Defendant Boohers' filed their response to Plaintiff T.H.E.'s Motion for Reconsideration on June 11, 2018. (App., Vol. II, p. 0977).

Following a second hearing on the matter, Judge Vaudt entered her "Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment" on August 11, 2018, reversing her prior order by granting Plaintiff T.H.E.'s Motion for Summary Judgment following reconsideration, but continuing with her denial of Defendant Boohers' Motion for Summary Judgment. (App., Vol. II, p. 0982).

The practical effect of the trial court's second ruling on the Cross-Summary Judgment Motions was to conclude that Plaintiff T.H.E. had neither a duty to defend Glen in the Underlying Action, nor indemnify him as a Defendant in the Underlying Action in the event Defendant Boohers' were successful in obtaining judgment against him in that venue. (Id.).

This appeal followed. (App., Vol. II, p. 1004).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff T.H.E. filed its petition for declaratory judgment naming Defendant Glen and Defendants Booher in this proceeding on August 2, 2017. (App., Vol. I, p. 0395).

Defendants Estate of Stephen Paul Booher, Gladys F. Booher, Administrator; and Gladys F. Booher (hereinafter "Defendant Booher" or "Booher") initiated a counterclaim for declaratory judgment action under Rule 1.1101 and Rule 1.1102, et seg. of the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure for a judicial determination that Plaintiff, T.H.E. has a duty under its Commercial General Liability Policy, CPP 0101105 06, in effect from April 26, 2016 to April 26, 2017 (the "CGL Policy") and its Commercial Excess Liability Coverage, Policy No. ELP 0010252 06, in effect from April 26, 2016, to April 26, 2017 (the "Excess Coverage") (collectively the "Policies") to defend and indemnify Defendant Stuart R. Glen ("Glen" or "Defendant Glen") against the claims made in Estate of Stephen Paul Booher, Gladys F. Booher, Administrator, and Gladys F. Booher, individually v. Stuart R. Glen, Case No. 4.17-cv-119 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Iowa, Central Division (removed from the Iowa District Court for Polk County, Iowa No. LACL137365) (the "Underlying Action") (App., Vol. I, p. 0741; App., Vol. II, p. 0072).

T.H.E. issued the Policies to Adventure Lands of America, Inc. ("Adventureland" or "Adventure Lands"), as the named insured. (<u>Id</u>.) On a combined basis the Policies exceed 350-pages in length. (<u>Id</u>.).

Determination of the merits of this appeal turns on whether the trial court properly interpreted and applied the relevant T.H.E. policy language and correctly concluded, as a matter of law, that the subject liability carrier had no duty to defend and indemnify Defendant Glen.

Both Glen and the Decedent, Stephen Paul Booher, were seasonal workers at the Altoona, Iowa amusement park generally referred to as Adventureland.

Stephen Booher was a loading assistant on the Raging River raft ride. (App., Vol. I, p. 0383). Stuart Glen was the ride operator. (<u>Id</u>.) Glen failed, repeatedly, to honor the training, policy manual instructions, posted warnings readily accessible to him and appropriate standard of care in creating conditions which caused Stephen Booher to be jerked off his feet on June 7, 2016. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0384-86) He was enveloped between the ride and the concrete sidewall where continuous action of the ride belt caused Stephen to be repeatedly thrust, head first, against the sidewall rendering him virtually unconscious. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0386-87).

He died at Mercy Hospital in Des Moines, Iowa, four (4) days later, on June 11, 2016, having never fully regained consciousness. (Id.)

He left behind his long-time wife, Gladys Booher, age 68, of Sioux Falls, South Dakota, and his two children, Douglas Booher, age 44, of Woods Cross, UT, and Michele Booher, age 47, of East Lansing, MI. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0382-89).

The pivotal issue on appeal is whether the T.H.E. insurance agreement was clear or ambiguous with respect to the coverage issues central to this case.

The court below ultimately concluded the multi-page insurance contract was unambiguous. (App., Vol. II, pps. 0982 and 0997-98). A closer review establishes otherwise.

The CGL insurance is broken down into five (5) sections in the policy:

- Section I Coverages
- Section II Who Is An Insured
- Section III Limits of Insurance
- Section IV Commercial General Liability Conditions
- Section V Definitions (Policies).

The trial court exclusively focused on policy Section I which is titled "Coverages." (App., Vol. II, pps. 0994-0999).

Section II of the CGL, which the trial court wholly ignored, despite it having been pointed out as critical by Defendants Booher below, is titled "Who is an Insured." (App., Vol. II, p. 0339).

It is the ambiguity created by the obvious and material differences between the CGL Sections I and II, which should have been addressed by the trial court, but unfortunately was not. The clear inconsistencies in the 350 + page insurance policy, drafted by T.H.E., create ambiguity for which it is solely responsible. It is highly unreasonable and legally incorrect to allow an insuring author to profit by its own drafting failures and thereby escape coverage responsibility in a tragic and senseless fatality case such as that before this court.

In the opening paragraphs of the CGL, the agreement states: "Various provisions in this policy restrict coverage. Read the entire policy carefully to determine rights, duties and what is and is not covered. . . The word 'insured' means any person or organization qualifying as such under Section II – Who Is An Insured." (App., Vol. II, p. 0331).

Adventureland is identified in the Declarations of the Policies as a named insured. (App., Vol. II, p. 0074).

Section II of the CGL Policy further underscores Adventureland as an insured. (App., Vol. II, p. 0339 at Section II(1) (d)).

Section II – Who Is An Insured – further provides at paragraph 2 (a) as follows:

2. Each of the following is also an insured:

... your 'employees'..., but only for acts within the scope of their employment by you or while performing duties related to the conduct of your business." (App., Vol. II, p. 0340).

In the trial court's final order, it addressed only one provision of the insurance contract found in the CGL Policy – that which addresses coverage for "bodily injury and property damage" in Section I, paragraph (1). (App., Vol. II, pps. 0994-0995).

The lower court failed to acknowledge that in the immediately preceding paragraph on this same CGL page the following language appears:

"The word 'insured' means any person or organization qualifying as such under Section II – Who Is An Insured." (App., Vol. II, p. 0331).

Defendant Glen is, and was, an additional insured under the language in the policy which provides, "Who Is An Insured." (App., Vol. II, p. 0339).

His acts causing damage and harm to Defendant Booher occurred within the scope of his employment, and while performing duties related to his employment on behalf of Adventureland, the latter named the insured under the subject Policies. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0383 - 0385).

Certain of the damages alleged by Defendant Booher were/are relational damages (loss of spousal and adult children consortium) and other non-bodily injury. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0387-0388).

The Policies initially carve out exposure or coverage for personal and advertising injury, bodily injury and property damage. There is no exception provided for relational or non-bodily injury damages. (App., Vol. II, p. 0340). In

the Multi-Plex Liability Endorsement "Bodily Injury" is later eliminated as a coverage exclusion for employees acting within the scope of their employment or while performing duties related to Adventureland business. (App., Vol. I, p. 0703).

The multi-page Policies were drafted by the Plaintiff carrier. (App., Vol. II, pps. 0898, 0899, 0900, 0928). They clearly state that an employee of Adventureland, such as Defendant Glen, is an insured for acts within the scope of his employment while performing duties relating to the conduct of Adventureland's business. (i.e., an employee is an insured, "for acts within the scope of their employment by [Adventureland] or while performing duties related to the conducted of [Adventureland's] business"). (App., Vol. II, p. 0340).

The acts of Defendant Glen alleged in the Underlying Action to be grossly negligent are at the heart of Defendant Booher's underlying case. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0385 - 0386).

If the Plaintiff carrier intended to except out coverage for non-bodily, relational and other damages, it should have stated that in its over 350 insuring agreement. It did not. It did initially except out coverage for "bodily injury" (later retracted) and for "personal advertising injury," "property damage" and certain "newly acquired or formed business entities." (App., Vol. II, p. 0340). Relational or consortium losses are neither excepted from coverage nor addressed.

"Bodily injury" is defined in the CGL policy as: "Bodily Injury' means bodily injury, sickness, or disease sustained by a person, including death resulting from any of these at any time." (App., Vol. II, p. 0343).

As defined for use in this CGL policy, "Bodily Injury" does not include relational damages. Any exclusion of "Bodily Injury" in the Policies has no effect on relational or non-bodily injury damages, even had bodily injury been retained as an exclusion.

The Excess Policy states in part:

"The insurance provided under this Coverage Part will follow the same provisions, exclusions, and limitations that are contained in the applicable "controlling" underlying insurance," directly by this insurance. To the extent, such provisions differ or conflict, the provisions of this Coverage Part will apply. However, the coverage provided under this Coverage Part will not be brought or not provided by the applicable 'Controlling Underlying Insurance.' There may be more than one 'Controlling Underlying Insurance' listed in the Declarations and provisions in those Policies conflict, and which are not superseded by the provisions of this Coverage Part. In such a case, the provisions, exclusions, and limitations of the 'Controlling Underlying Insurance' applicable to the particular 'event' for which a claim is made or suit is brought will apply." (App., Vol. I, p. 0357).

<u>Underlying Action</u>: On March 10, 2017, Defendant Gladys Booher filed a petition in the Underlying Action against Defendant Glen. (App., Vol. I, p. 0382).

The Underlying Petition includes the following allegations:

- 4. Defendant Glen is an individual whose current residence is 5072

 Thompson Drive, The Colony, Texas 75056. He was employed at all material times herein by Adventure Lands of America, Inc. ("Adventureland" or the 'Park"), an Iowa corporation located in Altoona, Polk County, Iowa while residing in this state.
- 5. On June 7, 2016, while so employed by Adventureland, Glen was performing services as a ride operator on the "Raging River" ride ("Ride" or "Raging River"). On that same day Stephen Booher (hereafter "Stephen" or "Steve"), a co-employee of Glen was injured at Adventureland and later died.
- 6. The decedent, Steve, was hired as a seasonal employee of Adventureland starting May 7, 2016, with his first day of work being only a few days prior to his injury and later death.
- 7. At the time Steve was injured while working at Adventureland he was serving as a loading assistant on the Raging River ride. . . .
- 11.Gladys is pursuing her pre-death lost consortium claim associated with her husband Steve's death, in her individual capacity. . . .

- 18.On June 7, 2016, the date of the incident which caused the Plaintiff Estate's and Gladys' individual injuries, Defendant Glen was acting in the course and scope of his employment at Adventureland as was Steve, his co-employee.
- 19. Furthermore, at the time of the incident which is the subject of this suit,

 Defendant Glen acted in a grossly negligent manner towards Steve, as
 follows:
 - a. He failed to visually check the Raging River ride before starting it;
 - b. He failed to watch the ride during its entire operation;
 - c. He failed to be on guard;
 - d. He failed to know his role in handling the incident involving Steve;
 - e. He failed to stop the ride once he became aware of the incident involving Steve and Reed, the loading assistants, which had knocked them both off their feet due to his reckless, unexpected, wanton and premature ride start;
 - f. He failed to assure himself that ride loading assistants were not standing on any boat, pre-start;
 - g. He started the ride without first obtaining the required thumbs-up signal from Steve and Reed;

- h. He failed to follow the instructions prominently displayed on the ride control board located directly in front of him which warned him to first obtain a thumbs-up from loading assistant before moving any boats;
- i. He left the operator's station within clear visual range of the fallen loading assistants, without shutting down the ride;
- j. He failed to engage the oversized, red "E-Stop Aux." knob located immediately in front of him after he was aware both loading assistants were down, and the ride was still running;
- k. He failed to key the ride to the "off" position after becoming aware that the loading assistants had been jerked off their feet due to his premature start of the ride, allowing the ride to continue operating;
- 1. From his operator's platform above and in close proximity to the ride and the loading assistants, he could easily observe that Steve had been knocked down onto the moving ride belts and was being pulled by continuous belt action into the confluence of a ride boat and the abutting Raging River concrete sidewall where Steve's head and body were brought into continuous and repeated contact with that sidewall, yet failed to stop the ride and instead, left his station;
- m. Defendant Glen only returned to his operator's station and stopped the ride after several ride patrons, waiting to board, repeatedly yelled at him to "stop the ride";
- n. Glen admitted that he caused the assistants to topple onto the exposed ride conveyor belts; and,
- o. Glen failed to consider Steve's injury, once he was knocked down onto the ride conveyor belts, as serious, and treat it accordingly.

- 20.Steve was taken by ambulance to Mercy Medical Center (Main) ("Mercy") in Des Moines, Iowa where he was admitted on June 7, 2016, at 5:52 p.m.
- 21. Steve remained at Mercy until his death on June 11, 2016, at approximately 4:53 p.m. Defendant Glen's conduct constitutes a reckless and wanton disregard for the rights of Steve, as a co-employee, and it was the result of conscious indifference to the rights, welfare, and safety of Steve, a fellow employee. Accordingly, Defendant Glen was grossly negligent.
- 24.Defendant Glen's gross negligence was a proximate cause of the death of Steve and the Plaintiff Estate's and Gladys' individual damages. . . .
- 29.As a direct and proximate result of Glen's gross negligence, Steve suffered a traumatic injury to his head, and additional injuries to his arms, hand, chest, and leg. He later died. Craniocerebral trauma was determined as the immediate cause of his death.
- 30. As a proximate result of the grossly negligent actions and omissions of Defendant Glen, evidencing extremely careless, reckless, wanton and willful disregard for Steve's rights and safety as described herein, Steve died at Mercy on June 11, 2016.

- 31.Defendant Glen is liable to the Plaintiff Estate and Gladys, individually, for the following injury, damage, and loss:
 - a. Steve's loss of future earning capacity;
 - b. Steve's physical and mental pain and suffering;
 - c. Steve's wife Gladys' loss of spousal consortium both before and after Steve died;
 - d. Steve's children, Doug and Michele's loss of parental consortium as a result of the loss of their father;
 - e. Interest in Steve's reasonable burial expense; and,
 - f. Punitive damages. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0383 0388).

"Bodily Injury" is a defined term under the CGL Policy as previously noted. It means, "bodily injury, sickness or disease sustained by a person, including death resulting from any of these at any time." (App., Vol. II, p. 0343).

Nowhere in the Underlying Petition does Defendant Booher claim damages based on "bodily injury to Booher," except for Steve's physical and mental pain and suffering.

Rather, Defendant Booher's claims virtually exclusively relate to damages associated with loss of future earning capacity; loss of spousal and parental consortium sustained by Steve's wife and two children; interest based on Steve's

reasonable burial expense; and, punitive damages. Nowhere does a claim for bodily injury appear in the Underlying Petition, except the reference to Steve's pain and suffering. (App., Vol. I, pps. 0382 – 0389).

The trial court, unfortunately, and exclusively, focused on Glen as not being an insured under the Policies for <u>bodily injury</u> alleged in the Underlying Petition. (App., Vol. II, pps. 0994 – 95). It did, however, conclude "contrary to some of what T.H.E. argues in support of its position on this issue, the CGL Policy would recognize some of the Boohers' consequential damage claims [but only if Stephen's bodily injury is covered]." (App., Vol. II, p. 0996). It is that blocked language which constitutes error.

Not only is bodily injury sustained by Steve not a basis of Defendant Booher's claims; (except his pain and suffering claim); but as noted employees are insureds under the policies for acts within the scope of their employment by Adventureland or while performing duties related to the conduct of its business unless the claim relates to "bodily injury" (later removed as a coverage exception) or "personal and advertising injury," "property damage," or a "newly acquired or formed" business entity. (App., Vol. II, p. 0340).

The various damage claims alleged by Defendant Booher (except for Steve's pain and suffering) do not fall within those categories of exceptions to coverage for Defendant Glen's actions. (App., Vol. II, p. 0340).

Defendant Booher is a third party incidental beneficiary under the Policies for the non-bodily injury claims alleged in its Underlying Petition occasioned by the grossly negligent conduct of Defendant Glen.

The non-bodily and non-property injury to Booher alleged in the Underlying Petition arose out of and in the course of his and Glen's employment with the named insured, Adventureland. (App., Vol. I, p. 0385).

The non-bodily and non-property injury to Booher alleged in the Underlying Petition occurred while Booher and Glen were performing duties related to the conduct of the named insured's business. (<u>Id</u>.).

Glen is an insured under the Policies for the non-bodily and non-property injury alleged in the Underlying Petition. (App., Vol. II, p. 0340).

The Policies do cover damages Glen may become legally obligated to pay because of non-bodily and non-property injury to which the Policies apply. (App., Vol. II, pps. 0331, 0340).

The non-bodily and non-property injury caused by the events described in the Underlying Petition and ensuing damages are covered within the terms of the Policies. (Id.).

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