IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT
NO. 18-1550

T.H.E. INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

STUART R. GLEN,

Defendant,

and

ESTATE OF STEPHEN PAUL BOOHER, GLADYS F. BOOHER,
Administrator; GLADYS F. BOOHER, Individually,

Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JEANIE VAUDT, JUDGE
POLK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT NO. CVCV054654

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S BRIEF

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

John F. Lorentzen, AT0004867
Thomas C. Goodhue, AT0013533
NYEMASTER GOODE, P.C.
700 Walnut Street, Suite 1600
Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: 515-283-3100
Facsimile: 515-283-8045
Email: jfl@nyemaster.com
tgoodhue@nyemaster.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

I. STEPHEN’S INJURY WAS NOT CAUSED BY AN OCCURRENCE WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE CGL COVERAGE.

A. Error preservation

The Boohers preserved error on this issue by filing a timely notice of appeal from the District Court’s grant of THEIC’s summary judgment motion and the denial of the Boohers’ summary judgment motion.

B. Standard of review

The standard of review on this appeal of the District Court’s Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment is for correction of legal error. (Iowa R. App. P. 6.907).

C. Argument

The District Court correctly found that the CGL Coverage does not cover the claim for Stephen’s injury and death because they were not caused by a covered “occurrence.” As a result, the District Court concluded, THEIC has no duty to defend Glen in the Underlying Action.

Under Iowa law, the duty to defend arises whenever, based on the facts appearing at the outset of the case, the insurer faces possible liability to

indemnify the insured. *McAndrews v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 349 N.W.2d 117, 119 (Iowa 1984). An insurer “is not required to defend if it would not be bound to indemnify the insured even though the claim against him should prevail in that action.” *State Farm Auto Ins. Co. v. Malcolm*, 259 N.W.2d 833, 835 (Iowa 1977); *see also* Windt, 1 Insurance Claims and Disputes § 4:1 (6th ed.) (stating “the insurer must defend if, but only if, any of the allegations against the insured could result in a judgment that the insurer would be obligated to pay”).

Courts review the facts at the outset of the case, as alleged in the petition, to determine as a matter of law whether the duty to defend arises. *Ottumwa Hous. Auth. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 495 N.W.2d 723, 726 (Iowa 1993). The pleadings are then compared with the insurance policies “to determine whether an issue of potential or possible liability is generated under the terms of the policies.” *Id.*

Here, the facts alleged in the Underlying Action do not create possible liability covered by THEIC. The CGL Coverage makes clear that it applies only to “bodily injury” that is caused by an unexpected and unintended “occurrence.” The insuring clause of the CGL Coverage states:

- a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of “bodily injury” . . . to which this insurance applies.

[App. I at 262, § 1(a).] The CGL Coverage further states that it applies only to “bodily injury” caused by an “occurrence”:

- b. This insurance applies to ‘bodily injury’ . . . only if:
 - (1) The ‘bodily injury’ is caused by an ‘occurrence’ that takes place in the “coverage territory[.]”

[App. I at 262, § 1(b).] The CGL Coverage plainly does not apply to bodily injuries caused by something other than an occurrence. Thus, the scope of the coverage turns on the definition of “occurrence.”

The CGL Coverage defines “occurrence” as “an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions.” [App. I at 276.] Under Iowa law, “[w]hether an event amounts to an accident that constitutes an occurrence triggering coverage . . . turns on whether the event itself and the resulting harm were both ‘expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured.’” *Nat’l Sur. Corp. v. Westlake Inv., LLC*, 880 N.W.2d 724, 735 (Iowa 2016). Thus, if Glen expected both the event and the resulting injury to Stephen, then coverage would not extend to any injury he caused. *See First Newton Nat’l Bank v. General Cas. Co. of Wisc.*, 426 N.W.2d 618, 625 (Iowa 1988) (“An accident, happening, event, or exposure to conditions is an unexpected and unintended ‘occurrence’ so long as the insured does not expect or intend both it *and* some injury.”).

The Boohers do not allege in the Underlying Action that Stephen was injured by an unintended event. Rather, the Boohers contend that Glen “left the operator’s station within clear visual range of the fallen loading assistants,” “failed to key the ride to the ‘off’ position after becoming aware that the loading assistants had been jerked off their feet,” and “could easily observe” Stephen’s head and body were being “brought into continuous and repeated contact with [the] sidewall.” [App. I at 386, ¶ 19(i), (k), (l).] The Boohers further allege that despite knowing that “both loading assistants were down and the ride was still running,” Glen did not “engage the oversized, red ‘E-Stop Aux.’ knob located immediately in front of him.” [App. I at 386, ¶ 19(e), (j), (k).]

Critically, the “event” from which the Boohers’ gross negligence claim arises is *not* that Stephen fell into the ride. Rather, the event was the peril that Glen observed once Stephen fell into the ride. The Boohers allege that once Stephen had fallen into the ride, Glen had a duty to prevent further injury to Stephen, and the consequences of not doing so were clear. Thus, Glen expected both the exposure to danger, which he observed, and the injury, which he allegedly observed Stephen was in the process of suffering. [*See* App. I at 385-86, ¶ 19.] Under those circumstances, Stephen’s injuries and death did not result from an “occurrence.”

Importantly, not only do the factual allegations in the Underlying Action’s petition show that Glen expected both the event and the injury, the Boohers also must prove the event and the injury were expected in order to recover for gross negligence. Under Iowa law, an injured worker must prove gross negligence within the meaning of the Iowa Workers’ Compensation Act (the “Act”) to recover against a co-employee in a civil action, as the Boohers seek to do in the Underlying Action. Iowa Code § 85.20(2) (2015). Otherwise, the Boohers’ exclusive remedy is for benefits under the Act. As this Court has stated, “an injured worker may maintain a common law tort action against a coemployee to recover for injuries *only* if the employee can establish that his or her injuries were caused by the coemployee’s ‘gross negligence.’” *Walker v. Mlakar*, 489 N.W.2d 401, 403 (Iowa 1992) (citing Iowa Code § 85.20).

To establish “gross negligence amounting to such lack of care as to amount to wanton neglect” under Section 85.20 of the Act, an employee must show: “(1) knowledge of the peril to be apprehended; (2) knowledge that injury is a probable, as opposed to a possible, result of the danger; and (3) a conscious failure to avoid the peril.” *Thompson v. Bohlken*, 312 N.W.2d 501, 505 (Iowa 1981). Gross negligence requires that a “coemployee actually knew of a peril or hazard.” *Walker*, 489 N.W.2d at

404. A plaintiff must also establish that a co-employee consciously disregarded a known peril with the knowledge that injury was probable. *Thompson*, 312 N.W.2d at 505. In short, to prevail on a gross negligence claim, a plaintiff must prove that the defendant knew of the event, *i.e.* the circumstance creating the harmful conditions, and the defendant expected harm to result. Proving these elements would place the Boohers' gross negligence claim outside the scope of the CGL Coverage. As a result, THEIC would not be required to indemnify Glen. Therefore, THEIC does not have a duty to defend Glen in the Underlying Action. *See Malcolm*, 259 N.W.2d at 835.

II. STEPHEN'S BODILY INJURY IS NOT COVERED BECAUSE OF THE GCL COVERAGE'S EXCLUSION.

A. Error preservation

The Boohers preserved error on this issue by filing a timely notice of appeal from the District Court's grant of THEIC's summary judgment motion and the denial of the Boohers' summary judgment motion.

B. Standard of Review

The standard of review on this appeal of the District Court's order on cross motions for summary judgment is for correction of legal error. (Iowa R. App. P. 6.907).

C. Argument

The District Court correctly concluded that the CGL Coverage does not cover Stephen's bodily injury because of the CGL Coverage's exclusions for injuries that were expected or intended. The analysis of the CGL Coverage exclusions is similar to the analysis of why Stephen's injury was not caused by a covered "occurrence."

The CGL Coverage excludes coverage for "[b]odily injury . . . expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured." [App. at 262, § 2(1).] The Iowa Supreme Court has defined the word "expected" in the context of an exclusionary clause as "'denot[ing] that the actor knew or should have known that there was a substantial probability that certain consequences will result from his actions.'" *Weber v. IMT Ins. Co.*, 462 N.W.2d 283, 287 (Iowa 1990) (quoting *City of Carter Lake v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 604 F.2d 1052, 1058-59 (8th Cir. 1979)). Thus, the application of the exclusionary provision turns on whether Glen knew or should have known that there was a "substantial probability" Stephen would be injured as a result of Glen's actions. "Substantial probability" exists where "[t]he indications [are] strong enough to alert a reasonably prudent man not only to the possibility of the results occurring but [also where] the indications [are] sufficient to forewarn him that the results are highly likely to occur." *Walnut Grove Partners, L.P. v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 479 F.3d 949, 955 (8th Cir. 2007) (applying

Iowa law) (“Substantial probability requires more than reasonable foreseeability.”).

A reasonably prudent person would have known that Stephen—who was sweeping through the water, hitting his head against the sidewall—would be seriously injured unless the ride was immediately stopped. For that reason, Stephen’s injury was allegedly expected by Glen for purposes of the CGL Coverage, and coverage for Stephen’s injuries is excluded.

III. THE GCL COVERAGE PRECLUDES COVERAGE FOR ALL OF THE DAMAGES THE BOOHERS SEEK IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

A. Error preservation

The Boohers preserved error on this issue by filing a timely notice of appeal from the District Court’s grant of THEIC’s summary judgment motion and the denial of the Boohers’ summary judgment motion.

B. Standard of Review

The standard of review on this appeal of the District Court’s Order on Cross Motions for Summary Judgment is for correction of legal error. *Green v. Racing Ass’n of Cent. Iowa*, 713 N.W.2d 234, 238 (Iowa 2006); Iowa R. App. P. 6.907.

C. Argument

The Boohers contend the claims in the Underlying Action relate exclusively to loss of consortium, reasonable burial expense, other

consequential damages, punitive damages, and not to “bodily injury.” The Boohers allege that the CGL Coverage does not restrict or limit damages for these kinds of consequential damages that are not for “bodily injury.”

[Appellant Brief at 19.] In support of this argument, the Boohers draw on language in Section II of the CGL Coverage, entitled “Who is an Insured.”

[App. I at 270.] As modified by the endorsement, Section II states that employees are insureds for “acts within the scope of their employment . . . or while performing duties related to the conduct of your business.” [App. I at 271, 316.] The Boohers argue that Glen was an insured for acts within the scope of his employment, which include operating the Raging River ride.

Although Section II defines “insured,” it does *not* define the risks that are covered. Section I of the Policy—the insuring clause and exclusions—defines the risks covered. The insuring clause states that THEIC will pay “those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages *because of ‘bodily injury’ . . . to which this insurance applies.*” [App. I at 262 (emphasis added).] This clause plainly requires THEIC to pay sums that an insured becomes obligated to pay but only for damages caused by a covered “bodily injury.”

The Iowa Supreme Court has adopted the immediate antecedent ruling for interpreting insurance policies. *Cairns v. Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co.*,

398 N.W.2d 821, 824–25 (Iowa 1987). Under this rule, “qualifying words and phrases ordinarily refer only to the immediately preceding antecedent.” The immediate antecedent of the words “to which this insurance applies” is “bodily injury,” not damages generally. Thus, regardless of whether Glen is an insured, THEIC is required to provide coverage for damages he caused—including loss of consortium damages—*only* if those damages were caused by a “bodily injury” to which the insurance applies. The Boothers’ damage claims, including their consequential damage claims, could be covered only if the insurance applies to a bodily injury that is covered.

Stephen’s bodily injury was not covered. As discussed above, the bodily injury was not caused by an accident; it was expected or intended. Accordingly, the CGL Coverage precludes coverage for the Boothers’ damage claims, which arise from that injury.

CONCLUSION

Appellee THEIC respectfully requests that the Court affirm the judgment of the District Court.

REQUEST FOR ORAL SUBMISSION

Plaintiff/Appellee THEIC does not believe that oral argument is necessary for the Court to resolve the issues presented on appeal. However, if the Court grants the Defendants /Appellants Boohers' request for oral argument, THEIC respectfully requests the same opportunity and allotted time to present oral argument.